JUL 18 1997

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHD J. WHITE

MICHAEL ASBELL,

Petitioner,

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 91,078

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

**BRYNN NEWTON** ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 175150 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged by informations filed in the Circuit Court of Putnam County, Florida, with aggravated battery; two counts of attempted first-degree murder with a firearm; armed carjacking with a firearm; armed kidnapping; and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R 7, 16-17) On August 15, 1996, he waived his defense of insanity and entered pleas of <u>nolo contendere</u> to simple battery, one count of attempted first-degree (premeditated) murder with a firearm; and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R 55, 169-178) On September 19, 1996, he was sentenced to spend 17 years in prison for attempted first-degree murder and one year in the county jail for battery, and to spend 15 years on probation for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R 163-165, 103-1 11)

Petitioner appealed and his convictions and sentences were affirmed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on April 29, 1997. Rehearing was granted and on June 27, 1997, the District Court affirmed on the basis of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA **1996**). <u>Asbell v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1542 (Fla. 5th DCA June 27, **1997**). (APPENDIX). His notice of seeking this Honorable Court's review was filed on July 15, 1997.

1

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in this cause cites as controlling authority a decision which directly and expressly conflicts with the decision in <u>Gallowav v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), and notes that the authority upon which this decision is based "conflict[s]" with <u>White v. State</u>, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), which is pending review in Supreme Court Case Number 89,998.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION CITES AS CONTROLLING AUTHORITY ITS DECISION IN <u>SMITH v. STATE</u>, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA **1996**), WHICH EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS IN <u>GALLOWAY v. STATE</u>, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA **1996**), AND NOTES CONFLICT WITH <u>WHITE v. STATE</u>, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA **1997**), WHICH IS PENDING REVIEW BY THIS HONORABLE COURT.

Petitioner was charged with aggravated battery; two counts of attempted firstdegree murder with a firearm; armed carjacking with a firearm; armed kidnapping; and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R 7, 16-17) He was sentenced pursuant to a sentencing guidelines scoresheet which included 18 points for possessing a firearm in the commission of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R 128, 98)

In its <u>per curiam</u> decision affirming Petitioner's convictions and sentences, the Fifth District Court of Appeal wrote:

#### PER CURIAM

We grant the motion for rehearing and affirm based on *Smith v. State, 683 So.* 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), although we note *Smith* conflicts [sic] with *White v. State,* [689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997)].

#### AFFIRMED.

<u>See</u> <u>Asbell v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1542 (Fla. 5th DCA June 27, 1997). (APPENDIX).

3

In <u>Smith v, State</u>, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), the Fifth District Court of Appeal approved the assessment of 18 additional points for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon because it was not a felony enumerated in Section 775.087(2), adding:

... contra Galloway v. State, [680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)] (holding that rule 3.702(d)(12) is inapplicable to convictions for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon when unrelated to the commission of any additional substantive offense).

In <u>White v. State</u>, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), the Second District

Court of Appeal affirmed a sentence imposed pursuant to a scoresheet which included

18 points applied pursuant to Rule 3,702(d)(12) and noted:

In affirming the trial court on this point, we certify that our decision in this case is in direct conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Galloway v. State, 680 So.* 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). . . .

<u>White v. State</u> is pending this Honorable Court's review in Supreme Court Case Number 89,998. The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case notes that <u>Smith</u>, <u>supra</u>, "conflicts" with <u>White v. State</u>, although <u>Smith</u> and White are actually in accord with each other. <u>White</u> and Smith, however, share the same conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Gallowav v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Because the decision in this case cites a decision, <u>White</u>, which is pending review by the Florida Supreme Court, this Honorable Court has jurisdiction of this appeal and should grant review in this cause. <u>See Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981), wherein this Honorable Court held that a District Court of Appeal <u>per curiam</u> opinion which cites as controlling authority a decision that is either pending review in or has been reversed by the Supreme Court constitutes <u>prima facie</u> conflict and allows the Supreme Court to exercise its jurisdiction.

#### <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons expressed herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and grant review of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in this cause.

Respectfully submitted,

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Upen Venten

BRYNN NEWTON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 175150 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310 904-252-3367