ORIGINAL

FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 6 1997

CLEAN CHAPTER OF THE PARTY OF T

MICHAEL ASBELL,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 9/,078 5DCA CASE NO. 96-2926

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBIN A. COMPTON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #846864
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner pled nolo contendere to battery, attempted first degree premeditated murder with a firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. On direct appeal, Petitioner argued that it was error to include on his sentencing guidelines scoresheet 18 points for possession of a firearm during the commission of his offenses because possession of a firearm is an essential element of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.

Petitioner's convictions and sentences were affirmed per curiam on April 29, 1997. On June 27, 1997, the Fifth District Court of Appeal granted rehearing and again affirmed per curiam adding that the affirmance was based on Smith v. State, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) and noting conflict between Smith and White v. State, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). Asbell v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1542 (Fla. 5th DCA June 27, 1997). On July 15, 1997, Petitioner filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no conflict within the four corners of the majority decision.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION BELOW IS NOT IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH WHITE V. STATE, 689 SO. 2D 371 (FLA. 2D DCA 1997).

Petitioner's convictions and sentences for battery, attempted first degree premeditated murder with a firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon were affirmed **per curiam** on April **29**, 1997. On June 27, 1997, the Fifth District Court of Appeal granted rehearing and again affirmed **per curiam** adding that the affirmance **was** based on **Smith v. State**, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) and noting conflict between **Smith** and **White-v. State**, 689 So. 2d 371 (**Fla.** 2d DCA 1997). **Asbell v. State**, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1542 (Fla. 5th DCA June 27, 1997). (Appendix)

Under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court may review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. In Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986), this Court said that the conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the

majority decision.

In the instant case, there is no conflict within the four corners of the majority decision. The Fifth District notes conflict between the case relied upon to affirm, Smith v. State, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) and White v. State, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). Asbell, supra. However, upon review of the decision in White, the decision affirms the addition of the eighteen points to the defendant's sentencing guidelines scoresheet for possession of a firearm. Smith, supra, also affirms the addition of the eighteen points. The Second District in White does certify conflict with Galloway v. State. 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In the instant case, however, no conflict exists between Smith, White and Asbell. They all affirm the inclusion of the 18 points for possession of a firearm.

Respondent does acknowledge that there is apparent conflict with the instant case and Galloway, supra. The Fifth District, however, did not refer to Galloway in the instant decision. There is not any express and direct conflict within the four corners of the majority decision. Reaves, supra. This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein,
Respondent would suggest that this honorable Court should decline
to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case.